

"To Learn to Think Conceptually"

Juliet Corbin in Conversation With Cesar A. Cisneros-Puebla

Key words:

Chicago school,
Grounded Theory,
methods,
knowledge
development,
literary theory,
concept
development,
social
transformation

Abstract: Some brilliant images are projected from Juliet CORBIN's memories around her first steps into the qualitative research world related to the symbolic interactionism tradition. She focuses on some remarkable issues about learning the processes of Grounded Theory based on her past experiences teaching in seminars or doing workshops worldwide. The differences between writing novels and the narrative perspective and writing social science from Grounded Theory methodology are discussed by her in order to distinguish the role of literature in the production of socially active knowledge. Latin-America and Marxism are especially focused in the discussion around the relevance of activism involved in social transformation.

Table of Contents

About the Interview

About Juliet CORBIN

- 1. The Beginnings
- 2. The Future of Grounded Theory
- 3. The Third Edition of "Basics of Qualitative Research"
- 4. Speaking About Latin-America
- 5. Grounded Theory as an Activism
- 6. Grounded Theory Around the World
- 7. Final Comment

Gallery

References

<u>Author</u>

Citation

About the Interview

I e-mailed Juliet CORBIN about interviewing prominent qualitative researchers for *FQS*. She agreed and granted permission for the interview. We met twice for the interview with the focus of the sessions being on her current projects and her personal experience of becoming a qualitative researcher. Our two meetings happened to take place at two large qualitative research conferences we were both attending as presenters, one conference in North America and the other conference being held in South America. I met Juliet CORBIN for the first time when she was in Guadalajara, Mexico in the year 2000 conducting a Grounded Theory workshop. The workshop provided an opportunity for all in attendance to learn more about this research tradition and to have our questions about this particular method answered. The workshop was supported by the International Institute for Qualitative Methodology, University of Alberta, and its international site located in Guadalajara, Mexico at the University of Guadalajara. In and

around the workshop sessions Juliet and I spent many marvelous moments together in discussion. [1]

About Juliet CORBIN

Juliet CORBIN is a key figure in the discussion focused on Grounded Theory. After her collaboration with Anselm STRAUSS¹ for 15 years, her name is most strongly related to the current debate around this method and its particular contribution to knowledge production. This close collaboration is ongoing, as she wrote in her contribution to the festschrift for STRAUSS: "I have tried to practice 'good sociology' ... just as he taught me to: step back and listen, to be cognizant of one's biases, and their implications, and to think analytically" (CORBIN 1991 p.17). Among her books we have Chronic Illness and the Quality of Life (STRAUSS, CORBIN, FAGERHAUGH, GLASER, MAINES, SUCZECK, & WIENER 1984) that is also translated into Japanese; Shaping a New Health Care System (STRAUSS & CORBIN 1988), Unending Work and Care: Managing Chronic Illness at Home (CORBIN & STRAUSS 1988), translated into German in 1993; Basics of Qualitative Research. Grounded Theory, Procedures and Techniques (STRAUSS & CORBIN 1990) translated into Arabic, Chinese, Japanese, Russian, Korean and German; Grounded Theory in Practice (STRAUSS & CORBIN 1997) and Basics of Qualitative Research: Techniques and Procedures for Developing Grounded Theory (1998), also available in Japanese, Korean and Spanish. [2]

The time we first met, however, there was no knowing that later I would be interviewing her. The interview came much later when we were both in Canada for the Fifth International Interdisciplinary Conference Advances in Qualitative Methods, held in Edmonton, Alberta, Canada from January 29-31, 2004. Finding time to do an interview during a busy conference is difficult but we finally decided to meet one evening between activities. I was somewhat nervous even though CORBIN and I had met and talked several times. However, we had never talked in the situation of a formal interview mediated by tape recorders, a time schedule, and so on. For our first session I chose an analog recorder even though I prefer digital ones. We met in her hotel room because it had a formal sitting area and was quiet, a real advantage when one is meeting in the sui generis Fantasyland Hotel at the unfathomable West Edmonton Mall. [3]

Two months later we met again to finish the second part of the interview. This time we met in the Center of Conventions "Amacio Mazzaropi" located in Taubate, Sao Paolo, Brazil. The meeting occurred in the context of the brilliant and successful First Brazilian International Conference on Qualitative Research, March 24-27, 2004. We met once more in her room because it was the only quiet place available. However, this time I was able to record our interview directly into my laptop. The Center of Conventions "Amacio Mazzaropi" is a place where this popular Brazilian actor used to live and make films in the 1950s. After his death

¹ Nowadays an outstanding useful free resource to get more knowledge about the STRAUSS legacy is available at http://www.ucsf.edu/anselmstrauss/. Adele C. CLARKE is in charge of this transcendental project.

some years ago "his farm" was turned into a conference center. The center is wonderful setting for thinking and learning because it is very private, rural, and accommodating to large numbers of people. There are many separate meetings rooms, a large cafeteria, lovely grounds for walking, and a small museum where one can learn more about early movie making in Brazil. The only problem with the center was the roosters that woke us up every morning before dawn. [4]

Canada and Brazil two very impressive but dissimilar parts of the world, two different rooms for interviewing, two different ways of recording the interview, and two contrasting climates and cultural settings, all of which provided the backdrop for conducting this interview with one of the most prominent woman in qualitative research. For me it was a learning process, for her an opportunity to think about matters that she had not thought about for some time. I will present the interview in two parts: the first one as a synopsis of my notes and the second one in a conversation format. [5]

1. The Beginnings

The worst nightmare for all qualitative researchers is to settle in to have an interview and then discover that the tape recorder is not working properly. That is what happened to me. My challenge, then, was to take notes the old fashioned, tried and true way, with paper and pencil. This little incident gave us an opportunity to relax as we joked and told stories about how STRAUSS, BECKER and HUGHES must have used those very methods in their early days as researchers, that is in the days before there was technology that can go wrong. STRAUSS used to tell the story of going into the restroom to hastily jot down notes while doing fieldwork, then running back to the house after a hard day in the field to write up all his notes before the next day. After digressing upon this point for a while we began the interview in earnest, and talked for almost an hour about what factors influenced her to become a qualitative researcher and what motivates her to continue to be. [6]

Our conversation began with CORBIN's very first research project in the early 1970s as a master's degree student at San Jose State University in San Jose, California. Though she did a very quantitative Master's thesis, it was at Jose California State University (SJSU) that Juliet was introduced to qualitative research and the work of SCHATZMAN and STRAUSS in their book on field research (SCHATZMAN & STRAUSS 1973). Qualitative research had instant appeal to her because of the access that it gave to research participants and early on CORBIN vowed that after finishing her master's degree she would return to school to study with SCHATZMAN and STRAUSS at University of California San Francisco (UCSF) in a doctoral program. After doing the requisite teaching in nursing for a few years at SJSU, CORBIN entered the Doctoral program in Nursing at UCSF in 1976. Though she entered the doctoral program as a nursing student and not a sociologist, and though her mentor was Ramona MERCER, because of MERCER's maternal child background, it didn't take CORBIN long to find her way to the Department of Social and Behavioral Sciences at UCSF, where SCHATZMAN and STRAUSS were teaching. At the time, the department

of Social and Behavioral Sciences was located in an old house on 3rd Avenue about a five-minute walk from the building in which the School of Nursing was housed. [7]

Though Barney GLASER had taught the qualitative analysis courses at UCSF in previous years, during the time CORBIN attended the University, GLASER had retired from formal teaching at UCSF and Anselm STRAUSS had taken over the courses. The courses in fieldwork meanwhile were taught by Leonard SCHATZMAN and Virginia OLESON. CORBIN could not have been happier with this arrangement and felt that her dreams became true. She was with the people that she most wanted to study with and was studying the method of research that had intrigued her from the time she first heard about it. Among her classmates in that early class were Katherine MAY and Fred BOZETT (now deceased), who both went on to do qualitative work. Kathy CHARMAZ, another qualitative researcher had been in an earlier course. CORBIN remembers those early classes in which she and Katherine MAY, and Fred BOZETT sat in awe as they watched STRAUSS work with data. Juliet often remarked to her fellow students that "wouldn't it be wonderful to be able to work with STRAUSS some day," never thinking at the time that some day she would. Though the classes were remarkable in many ways—it was so exciting to see what STRAUSS could do with data—CORBIN recalls that much of what was said went over her head. [8]

Among the students that worked in a collaborative way with STRAUSS at the time were FAGERHAUGH, SUCZECK, and WIENER (STRAUSS, FAGERHAUGH, SUCZEK & WIENER 1985). FAGERHAUGH and STRAUSS were working on the pain study (FAGERHAUGH & STRAUSS 1977) and sometimes FAGERHAUGH would come to class and she and STRAUSS would demonstrate how they worked with data. According to CORBIN this had much influence on her because it put so much of the philosophy she had learned into perspective, showing interactionism in actual practice. Listening to CORBIN reflect back on those days brings us back into direct contact with one of the key figures in contemporary symbolic interactionism. [9]

For me it was the "ultimate experience" speaking face to face with CORBIN about STRAUSS, similar to CORBIN as she described watching STRAUSS analyzing data with people like FAGERHAUGH during his qualitative analysis class. Though her contacts with Howard BECKER were limited to occasional evening discussions at Elihu GERSON's Tremont Institute here too CORBIN felt the interactionist influence and the excitement of doing qualitative research. How fortunate for her and other students such as Adele CLARKE, Susan LEIGH STAR, and Joan FUJIMORA to have had that experience. It is totally impressive listening to her—she often mentions it, given STRAUSS' emphasis on the process—talk about how important is to learn to think conceptually to do qualitative analysis. [10]

At the time CORBIN was finishing her dissertation, Anselm STRAUSS was working with FAGERHAUGH on the pain study and beginning another study with FAGERHAUGH, WIENER, and SUCZECK on the use of technology in hospitals.

In the 1970s STRAUSS had published, in collaboration with Berenice FISHER (a distant cousin of his), several papers on George Herbert MEAD and the Chicago Tradition (FISHER & STRAUSS 1978, 1979), which gave CORBIN a very good grounding in the philosophical tradition she had chosen as her own. [11]

One would think that being at UCSF and working with STRAUSS would mean that doing the dissertation would be an easy task but it wasn't. Phyllis STERN who was also a qualitative researcher and on CORBIN's doctoral thesis committee took a teaching position out of state. Anselm STRAUSS went on sabbatical out of the country and when he returned he was ill and unavailable. CORBIN was left to work long distance with STERN, and with MERCER, who though sympathetic and supportive, was primarily a quantitative researcher. Somehow CORBIN managed to finish her dissertation. But still she was unsatisfied about what she knew about Grounded Theory methodology. Though she could have returned to teaching at San Jose State, instead she chose to do a post-doctorate with STRAUSS. This time she vowed to really learn how to do Grounded Theory. Among her fellow post-docs were Janice SWANSON and Carole CHENITZ. The method classes were held in Anselm STRAUSS' home because he was continuing to recover from his illness and it was in these classes that CORBIN met Gerhard RIEMANN, Wolfram FISHER fellow students from Germany, and visitors such as Richard GRATOFF, Hans Georg SOEFFNER, and Fritz SCHÜTZE, along with his student Ralf BOHNSACK, all from Germany, and Herman COENEN from The Netherlands. Later she met Bruno HILDENBRAND, Johann BEHRENS, and Doris SCHAEFFER all with qualitative interests. Though HILDENBRAND is more from the phenomenological tradition he too shares a love of qualitative research and together with CORBIN has written an article on Grounded Theory (CORBIN & HILDENBRAND 2000). These were wonderful days CORBIN recalls because of the stream of visitors both from within the U.S. and from abroad. The conversations were stimulating and it felt good to be a part of a cadre of fellow researchers devoted exclusively to doing qualitative research. The School of Nursing at UCSF and other major universities in those days leaned heavily towards quantitative research and it was difficult to find the stimulation and support for doing qualitative work. [12]

It was while doing the post doctorate that CORBIN began her 15 year collaboration with STRAUSS. CORBIN was doing a study of couples, with one individual from the couple having a chronic illness (CORBIN & STRAUSS 1988). STRAUSS was recovering from his illness and not able to get out and do much research. As CORBIN brought her interviews to STRAUSS for discussion she noticed that he was very interested in the topic as it was something that he and his wife were undergoing at a very personal level. CORBIN asked STRAUSS if he was interested in working with her on the study and it was the beginning of their years of work together on that and on subsequent studies. They just kind of "hit it off" and worked well together because they were not competitive with each other. [13]

There is no doubt that qualitative research and Grounded Theory have changed since those early days. There is the one-sided falling out with Barney GLASER, one sided because it was never STRAUSS' intention to create conflict. It is simply

that after the two men stopped working together, both seemed to go their own way methodologically. Key figures in the current debate about the nature of Grounded Theory are Adele CLARKE and Kathy CHARMAZ. Both have their visions and versions of the method, just as Phyllis STERN and Rita SCHREIBER do (2001). Even though this part of our interview could not be recorded, several times the mood and social atmosphere of different people who used to work around technology and Grounded Theory infused it. So we very often talked about the work Elihu M. GERSON did, and Susan LEIGH Star and Adele CLARKE are still doing. Grounded Theory, methodology and technology are good images with which to close my unrecorded conversation with CORBIN. [14]

2. The Future of Grounded Theory

This second part of the interview was recorded with my computer, so I decided to transcribe it. Note the difference in the writing's style. Rather than a synopsis of our discussion it is much more of a conversation format. [15]

CISNEROS: What are your ideas on the future of Grounded Theory approach? [16]

CORBIN: I don't know what the future of Grounded Theory is. There are now many versions of the method and other than the fact they all share a desire to build theory from data, I don't know exactly what they have in common. I also find that researchers are combining methods, which are parts of Grounded Theory with some other method, using aspects of it, such as comparative analysis and theoretical sampling, but not for the purpose of actually building theory. So I would say that Grounded Theory has taken a path of its own. But then I think that we must expect that with methods. They evolve. But what Grounded Theory becomes doesn't concern me as much as what qualitative research has become. There is more emphasis on alternative methods and little interest in theory development. Students don't want to put in the long hard work that goes into theory building. Yet I don't understand how we can continue to develop the various professions without a knowledge base to build on theory, theory grounded in data. There are many researchers who are doing excellent work. I admire them very much. However there are those who seem to want fast solutions to doing data analysis. They are satisfied to pull out a few good themes without having to put the effort into doing an in-depth analysis that will lead to theme or concept development. The result is superficial work; which in turn gives qualitative research a bad name. Then there is this whole trend towards dramatizing findings and writing novels instead of research reports. I keep thinking that it's time for me to retire; some of this stuff is just too far out for me. But there is another point, perhaps some of the problem lies in the lack of good mentorship. Many teachers of research and committee members are not trained as qualitative researchers, and therefore cannot give proper guidance to their students. [17]

CISNEROS: But even beyond a specific discipline, there are people doing Grounded Theory from the humanities, organizational studies, and even in computational studies. So it is not all lost, if you can imagine what the future is. [18]

CORBIN: It is true that there are still persons and places that are interested in theory building and doing solid qualitative work. I tend to find these people in professions that are more science oriented, certainly people outside sociology. For example, while here in Brazil I was asked to do a lecture at Mackenzie University in the School of Business. They are more traditional and want methods with some system and rigor. The department was well represented by both qualitative and qualitative researchers. They showed a great deal of interest and asked excellent questions mainly about how qualitative differs from quantitative and when one would use one form of research over the other. I think that we need more discussions like that. It really enhances understanding between methods and researchers and opens options. They were also very interested in the theory building aspects of qualitative methods. I enjoyed very much working with this group of people, as you can well understand. [19]

3. The Third Edition of "Basics of Qualitative Research"

CISNEROS: In our last informal conversation you told me you are now preparing the third edition of *Basics of Qualitative Research*. In this edition you want to add a section on the philosophical notions or underpinnings of STRAUSS' approach to Grounded Theory. Can you say a little more about that? [20]

CORBIN: I think that it is very important to state the philosophical traditions that underlie a method Understanding these foundations is important because they influence the logic and methodological strategies that are used. In the previous editions of *Basics* the section on philosophical underpinnings was removed by the editor because of what he stated was a lack of space. This time I will refuse to remove it. It is especially important to have this section now because we know that our perspectives and belief systems influence how we view and work with data. We want our readers to understand why it is important to look at experiences, feelings, action/interaction, to denote the structure or context in which these are located, and why it is important to study process. We come from an interactionist, DEWEYian, and philosophical tradition, with a little constructionism and post-modernism thrown in. [21]

It is funny looking back because when I was trained, as a field researcher in the mid-1970s, the emphasis was on objectivity, a distancing between the researcher and the research. Now we certainly know better and I think that the recognition of what we as persons bring to the research and our involvement in the data collection and analysis processes are some of the better ideas to have come about in qualitative research in recent years But a lot of the stuff that came out, some of the postmodern stuff, some of the feminist stuff, some of the constructionist stuff I think has shaped me and will shape the way I will present the new version of *Basics*. [22]

CISNEROS: It seems to me like in the third version of *Basics of Qualitative Research* you will try to correct some misunderstandings. [23]

CORBIN: I think I will try to correct some misunderstandings, I think I will try to open up the method and make it more flexible and useful to a variety of researchers. Of course one is never satisfied with what one has written in the past, and there is no way one can satisfy all of one's critics but I think I am a different person today than who I was when the first and second editions were written. The book has to be different today because I have evolved as a researcher, mostly through the interaction with other people. [24]

CISNEROS: Is it a kind of process of maturation?² [25]

CORBIN: Yes! I think it is a process of maturation but also of knowledge acquisition. I will never accept the notion that we don't need theory, though I don't believe that every research project must lead to theory development. There is room for everything. Even theatrical productions (disseminating research findings through a play) have their place, as long as there remains the recognition that these are alternative methods and that concepts and theory are still necessary for knowledge development. Insights and understandings are valuable and can be gained in multiple ways, but so are sound, well-developed concepts and theory. The latter will never be outdated. [26]

Jane GILGUN, my well respected colleague and friend, and I go back and forth about all these recent trends in qualitative research. She has written an article that she says has been accepted by Norman DENZIN for *Qualitative Inquiry* (see GILGUN, 2004). She thinks of the article as a literary work rather than a research report. I am curious to see it because I think novel writing is a genre of its own and though there are novels such as those of DICKENS and BALZAC that did bring about social change, they were written by trained novelists and not sociologists. Jane claims that there is social science in her "novel" I want to see where the science fits in and where the novel comes in. [27]

CISNEROS: Can you say a little more about this? [28]

CORBIN: Well, as I've stated I think that doing science is the purpose of doing research. Not science in the quantitative sense but science in the sense of discovering concepts and concept development. If I am going to write a novel, I will write a nice juicy novel with lots of sex and action. I suppose I could base it on people I've known. Perhaps it is because I come from a practice discipline. I can't see making a change in the way nurses practice based on some novel that I might write, even if I gathered the information for the novel from interviews. The

Doing the interview and afterwards I realized the question about the misunderstandings around the first two editions of *Basics of Qualitative Research* could not possibly be discussed at the moment, not only because it is a very sensitive topic but also needs a deep and wide answer not appropriate for an interview format report. So, I did ask CORBIN later, when I was editing the interview if I could refer readers to the four points of the debate with RENNIE (1998) that can be summarized as: 1) using experience as a data; 2) meaning of hypothesis "testing"; 3) what are referred to as "macro" conditions and from where these are derived in Grounded Theory analysis; and 4) concept of process. As she wrote in those days (CORBIN 1998, p.121) about the debate generated by the first edition that "... though debate is important because it stimulates the discussion that moves a field forward, that was nor our intent when we wrote the text ..." she recognizes later that the very hard part was "... to put into words what is a very difficult process to convey: Anselm STRAUSS' way of thinking and working with data ...".

difference, as I see it, is the degree of creative license that one can take. If one is going to change the way a profession practices, the change better be based on sound and grounded data and not on some creative whim that a researcher might have. It is good to dramatize things because drama can make a point. But if we get too far away from the notion of science in qualitative research, then what happens to knowledge development in fields like nursing? These fields will have to resort entirely to quantitative studies and will miss the richness and contributions of qualitative research. We need some balance in qualitative research. People can experiment, innovate, but we still need some grounding. Perhaps after the third edition of Basics is finished I should write that juicy novel. [29]

4. Speaking About Latin-America

CISNEROS: Can I ask you what do you think about the Latin-American social sciences? [30]

CORBIN: I was very concerned about the directions that social science was taking when I was in Mexico and other Latin American countries. I feel that too much emphasis is being placed on a Marxist driven philosophy. They should understand that Marxism is one way of looking at the world and not a bad way to look at the world but not the only way. Yes, there is inequity and much one-sided power but you can't explain everything away in terms of Marxism. It is only one philosophical tradition and by locking oneself solely in that tradition researchers are foreclosing on many other fruitful paths and interpretations of the world. The problem I have with Marxism is that it puts some people in power and makes everybody else seem like victims. How can you even get ahead if you think of yourself as a victim? You don't have to take responsibility for things because there is always someone else to blame. The rest of the world demonstrates that Marxism has never solved anything. It was the economic downfall of Eastern Europe and Russian. I think that more open philosophies such as interactionism add another dimension to understanding how the world works because interactionism says there are circumstances and within those circumstances we have the power to act. As qualitative researchers we must have open minds and look for all of the conditions that create situations, and look at all of the possible ways of acting/interacting (responding). If everything is seen as a power struggle, it just leads to conflict and a lack of progress. Latin America has suffered but it needs more options and different ways of looking at the world. If I thought of myself as a victim I would never get anywhere. I have to carefully study the situation then find my options. That is why I like interactionism; it is not deterministic but shares the power, gives persons some degree of control over their circumstances. [31]

I get the feeling that the people of Latin American are angry and blaming. Blame and anger never solved anything. Revolutions succeed best if they are well thought out and have a well- developed plan, rather than a few angry people acting out. And it's crazy to think that businesses are not out to make money. Of course they are, they would not be "in business" otherwise. They would be charitable organizations. But there is a way of keeping a balance between making

money and taking care of your employees and the environment. This must be negotiated ahead of time. If a company violates a contract it should be fined and if that doesn't work, it should be thrown out of a country. If a company stands to loose money, they make things work. The problem is corruption at every level inside and outside the organization (government) and there are many sides to every issue. Take NAFTA (North American Free Trade Agreement), both the Mexicans and the Americans are complaining about it. Mexico says it has not benefited the Mexican people and some Americans are saying that they are loosing money (mainly truckers and other blue-collar workers). So who is correct? I think that the issue is much more complicated than it appears on the surface. To dismiss it as all a power/victim issue, big country against a little country hardly does justice to the issue. One has to look at the total picture and at all of the parties involved. A one-sided study doesn't tell that whole picture and, therefore, can hardly result in any workable solutions. We need more open minds in research and more willingness to get at all the facts, not just the facts that we want to see. [32]

CISNEROS: I know that you really like some Latin-Americans writers, like Jorge AMADO, Gabriel GARCIA-MARQUEZ; in some ways they represent your way to know something about our Latin-American social realities, so what they represent for you is the way to get knowledge about our realities. [33]

CORBIN: I think that for example, when I read Jorge AMADO I developed a wonderful feeling for the people of Bahia: who they are, their heritage, their beliefs, their experiences, their outlook at life, and also about place, I mean their spirituality, their emotions, something about what it is like to live in that part of the world. Reading gives me great ability to feel, to think about things, but I do not see reading these novels as providing the scientific background needed to make change. I went to Bahia on this trip to Brazil and I saw that beneath the surface of what is a beautiful place there are problems that remain unresolved. The Blacks still hold the less well-paying jobs, and have problems getting a good education. It was such a wonderful place to visit, so colorful and warm, I think it would be a good place to go and do some qualitative research that would hopefully lead to change. [34]

CISNEROS: In your view ... [35]

CORBIN: I guess I see the goal of social sciences as more than creating understanding but in being able to shape events that constraint people. The idea is not to do for people as much as give them the tools to do it for themselves, that is the knowledge. The early Chicago interactionists went out into the field to see the problems first hand and report back on them. They were change agents. But they were also credible scientists and not novelists or dramatists. Anselm was a change agent, especially in the area of chronic illness. But he never would have had the impact that he did, or trained as many students, or influenced so much thought if he had not maintained his identity as a social SCIENTIST! He never lost that amidst all this change. I guess it all goes back to the whole Chicago tradition. [36]

5. Grounded Theory as an Activism

CISNEROS: It seems to me that behind symbolic interactionism there is a kind of social engagement, like an activism. [37]

CORBIN: Yes, exactly! You want to make differences in people's lives and in order to make the differences you have to be like an active participant, a stirrer upper of ideas. That is what the early school of Chicago sociologists did—PARK, THOMAS, HUGHES. They went into the field to gather information, and based on that information brought about change. I see activism as an important part of doing research, but who will listen to you if you don't present your findings in a credible scientific manner—not quantitative scientific but qualitative scientific. [38]

CISNEROS: Do you feel all this kind of responsibility in the Grounded Theory approach? [39]

CORBIN: Oh yes! I think I owe that to Anselm STRAUSS. He saw theory development as a way of knowing and improving the world. I owe it to him to keep that vision alive. When he first started doing research on chronic illness, people were still focused on acute illness. They saw having heart disease as an acute problem, not a chronic one that had implications for how you lived your life. It was Anselm and the work of his students and associates that brought to light: the whole issue of "living with chronic illness." Now of course that thought has become so much a part of mainstream thinking that no one reflects back on where it all came from. [40]

CISNEROS: The role of the novel's writer in social transformation is different from the grounded theoretician? [41]

CORBIN: Theory is different than a novel. Novels can provide insight and understanding. They can also be written to entertain and lift the mind. But the purpose of theory is to provide a theoretical base for action, not to entertain. The theoretical base is built on concepts derived from data, data gathered from persons who are living with and experiencing the situations under study. The other day when we were talking Michael PATTON related how he had a group of children present a play about his findings. I am sure that was a very effective technique for putting across a point, but I am willing to bet that the school board that hired him also wanted a detailed research report, because you can't hold a theatrical production in your hands and go back to it over and over again to see what needs to be done. Boards and agencies that fund research want findings that they can hold in their hands, show what knowledge they have gained for their money. A combination of the two isn't bad, report and production. Maybe after I write my steamy novel I'll write a play. [42]

6. Grounded Theory Around the World

CISNEROS: Now I am just curious to hear from you what your opinion is about the different experiences of doing Grounded Theory in different countries around the world. [43]

CORBIN: I have done workshops in Japan, in Norway, in Sweden, in England, in Korea, Germany, Canada, Brazil and Mexico. It is very interesting working with these different groups because the topics they study are different and their approaches to doing research are different. In countries such as Japan Grounded Theory is appealing because it has some structure to it. Japan is a structured society. I have difficulty loosening them up and getting them to think more freely and openly. Other countries also seem to be more serious about doing research. They are not so much into the theatrical novel writing stuff. When you compete for funds with quantitative people it is pretty hard to stand up and say: "I am going to write a play about findings," unless, of course, one is in the creative arts. Then a play would be perfectly acceptable, but not with funds designated for research. So I think that there are still many different countries around the world where they expect more rigor and more traditional types of research. [44]

CISNEROS: And Germany, Juliet? [45]

CORBIN: I think in Germany they are still traditionally research oriented. I know many qualitative researchers who are doing great work in Germany and there is a lot of respect for the work of Anselm STRAUSS. The qualitative research conferences are well attended and very interesting. A lot of good work is being done there. [46]

CISNEROS: And Latin America? There is not much talk about qualitative research. [47]

CORBIN: I have not really seen a lot of Grounded Theory research. But I've met people in Mexico who say they are doing Grounded Theory and also people here in Brazil. I have not seen their studies and can't judge the quality. But qualitative work is going on and there is an interest as demonstrated by the conferences here and in Mexico and probably other Latin countries as well. Not a lot of the work being done in Latin America is being published in English. I know a little Spanish but not enough to read a scientific paper very well (but maybe a novel). I think it is for that reason that many English speakers are not aware of just how much qualitative work is being done in Spanish speaking countries. I know the *Basics* book was translated into Spanish in Colombia, so someone must be interested in qualitative work and that is encouraging. We need more interchange and sharing of papers. We also need more mentoring of Latin-American students in qualitative methods. I think that the Internet will help to break down some of the barriers. Perhaps what we need to start is an interactive research class in qualitative methods on the Internet. [48]

CISNEROS: Going back to your answer about Grounded Theory in Japan, you said "they like a little more structure," what do you think about the relationship between the Asian mind and Grounded Theory? [49]

CORBIN: As I said, Japan is a structured society and so they like some structure to their methods. It is difficult to put across the idea of flexibility of procedures and creativity in their use. I know the Grounded Theory books have been translated into Japanese. However, since I don't read Japanese I don't know how accurate the translations are or if they bring out the fluid and dynamic nature of this method. [50]

CISNEROS: I am quite surprised because I have read a lot of articles in different international journals where people report doing Grounded Theory in Thailand, Taiwan, China, Korea, and Japan. [51]

CORBIN: Yes, a lot of people claim to be doing Grounded Theory studies. But whether or not they are building theory is quite another matter. People do the work according to their understanding of the method and there is a broad range of that understanding. Much of the reports I read are very good. There is also a lot of work being done all over the world, not only in Asia, that claims to be theory that bears no resemblance to theory, Grounded Theory or otherwise. In fact, some research is quite superficial. It depends upon how much training the individual has, where he or she received the research training, and how flexible they are. I had Shigeko Saiki-CRAIGHILL, a Japanese woman who came and spent some time with me. First she had studied with Anselm in his analysis class. Then she attended a seminar that Anselm and I taught for students working on their dissertations. But still she felt the need for more training, so we spent three weeks together working on her data. She has published quite extensively in Japan and is very well respected. It is interesting because though she is doing qualitative work, even the physicians are impressed with her findings about the cancer experience of children and their parents. Her research is very insightful and very well done. Setsuo MIZUNO is another Japanese researcher, who does impressive work (see for example MIZUNO 2003 in a former FQS issue). He translated the Discovery of Grounded Theory Book and has run seminars and classes on Grounded Theory even though he has his own methods of analysis. Along with Shigeko and others, MIZUNO has had a great impact on Japanese understanding of Grounded Theory. One of the problems that I've run into when working with students from Asian countries is their kind of insecurity in naming concepts. This is probably a cultural thing, shyness. They tend to want to stick to traditional concepts like coping to explain things. But with coaching and training they do quite well. What is more interesting to me when dealing with international students are the concepts that cannot be translated into another language because there is no translation. I found this especially so when working in Japan and Korea. [52]

7. Final Comment

Given the complexity of our actual world I don't like the dichotomies; I prefer the fuzzy thinking because it is more inspiring. As I said above, the interview was conducted in two very impressive but dissimilar parts of the world, in two different rooms, and two different ways of recording and reporting the interview. Two or more different ways to do Grounded Theory could be the next thing, the reader may be thinking. But the West and the East could also be an immediate response or image emerging at this moment when CORBIN is talking about doing Grounded Theory all over the world. West and East, again two extreme points, but I don't like the dichotomies, even when two contrasting climates and cultural settings provided the backdrops for conducting this interview. Now I remember the narrative and paradigmatic ways of thinking and expressing the nature of the world as different dimensions to focus our discussion around our theories and concepts. Social science and literature can share some features but can not be merged, and immediately Charles Percy SNOW (1959) and his concept of two cultures is between us regarding some of the ideas CORBIN has expressed about the relationship between science and literature, the basic and essential tension she will be dealing with in the near future. [53]

References

<u>Corbin, Juliet</u> (1991). Anselm Strauss: an intellectual biography. In David Maines (Ed.), *Social organization and social process* (pp.17-42). New York: Aldine de Gruyter.

Corbin, Juliet (1998). Alternative interpretations. Valid or no? Theory & Psychology, 8(1) 121-128.

Corbin, Juliet & Hildenbrand, Bruno (2000). Qualitative Forschung. In Beate Rennen-Alhoff & Doris Schaeffer (Eds.), *Handbuch Pflegewissenschaft* (pp.159-184). Weinheim: Juventa.

Corbin, Juliet & Strauss, Anselm (1988). *Unending work and care: managing chronic illness at home*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Fagerhaugh, Shyzuko & Strauss, Anselm (1977). *Politics of pain management: Staff-patient interaction*. Menlo Park, CA: Addison-Wesley.

Fisher, Berenice & Strauss, Anselm (1978). The Chicago tradition: Thomas, Park, and their successors. *Symbolic Interaction*, 1, 5-23.

Fisher, Berenice & Strauss, Anselm (1979). George Herbert Mead and the Chicago tradition of Sociology. Parts I and II. *Symbolic interaction*, *2*(1), 9-26 and 2(2), 9-20.

Gilgun, Jane (2004). Fictionalizing Life Stories: Yukee the Wine Thief. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 10(5), 691-705.

Mizuno, Setsuo (2003, September). Transformative Experiences of A Turkish Woman in Germany: A Case-Mediated Approach Toward An Autobiographical Narrative Interview [50 paragraphs]. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research* [On-line Journal], *4*(3), Art. 22. Available at: http://www.qualitative-research.net/fqs-texte/3-03/3-03mizuno-e.htm.

Rennie, David (1998). Grounded theory methodology. The pressing need for a coherent logic of justification. *Theory & Psychology*, *8*(1), 101-119.

Schatzman, Leonard & Strauss, Anselm (1973). *Field research: Strategies for a natural Sociology*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.

Schreiber, Rita & Stern, Phyllis (2001). Using Grounded Theory in Nursing. New York: Springer.

Snow, Charles (1959). The Two Cultures and the Scientific Revolution. The Rede Lecture. New York. Cambridge University Press.

Strauss, Anselm; Fagerhaugh, Shyzuko; Suczek, Barbara & Wiener, Carolyn (1985). *The social organization of medical work*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Author

César A. CISNEROS PUEBLA is Professor in Sociology Department at Autonomous Metropolitan University-Iztapalapa, Mexico. He teaches Qualitative Methods and Social Sciences Epistemology. His research interests include Narrative and Discourse Analysis, Grounded Theory, Symbolic Interaction, Qualitative Data Analysis and Qualitative Computing. For FQS, he coordinates the Ibero American branch and has published Qualitative Social Research in Mexico and Review Note: Adrian Holliday (2001). Doing and Writing Qualitative Research. In 2002 and 2003 he was a Visiting Professor at the International Institute for Qualitative Methodology, University of Alberta.

Contact:

César A. Cisneros-Puebla

Universidad Autónoma Metropolitana-Iztapalapa
Departamento de Sociología
Av. San Rafael Atlixco No. 186
Col. Vicentina
Delegación Iztapalapa
C. P. 09340
México, D.F.

E-mail: csh@xanum.uam.mx

Citation

Cisneros-Puebla, Cesar A. (2004). "To Learn to Think Conceptually." Juliet Corbin in Conversation With Cesar A. Cisneros-Puebla [53 paragraphs]. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research*, *5*(3), Art. 32, http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:0114-fqs0403325.

Revised 4/2011